IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Feb 03 2023

03:45AM EST

Transaction ID 69065134

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Plaintiff Below, Respondent

V. Docket No.: 22-710

(Fayette Co. Circuit Court Case No.: 20-F-74)

MARTY L. BROWNING,

Defendant Below, Petitioner

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Steven K. Mancini Counsel for Petitioner, Marty L. Browning State Bar ID#: 5921 P.O. Box 5514 Beckley, WV 25801 304- 327-6840 Fax: 304-324-8782 stevekm101@gmail.com

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Table of Authorities	p. i-v
Notice	p. vi
Petitioner's Brief	
I. Statement of the Case	p. 1-3
II. Assignments of Error	p. 3-4
III. Summary of Argument	p. 4-8
IV. Statement Regarding Oral Argument and Decision	p. 8-9
V. Argument	p. 9-37
a.: Intrinsic Evidence versus 404(b) Evidence	p. 11-19
b.: No Opportunity to Directly Examine or Cross Examine Defense Witnesses	p. 19-27
c.: Denial of Speedy-Trial Right	p. 27-32
d.: Improper Admission of Hearsay	p. 33-37
VI. Conclusion	p. 38
Certificate of Service	
Appendix	App., Vol. I-VII

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Sixth Amendment, United States Constitution	p. 10, 20, 25-26, 34
Fourteenth Amendment, United States Constitution	p. 10, 25-26, 34-35, 38
Article III, Section 14 of the West Virginia Constitution	P. 34
Alford v. United States, 282 U.S. 687, 51 S.Ct. 218, 75 L.Ed. 624 (1931)	p. 21
Avery v. Alabama, 308 U.S. 444, 60 S.Ct. 321, 84 L.Ed. 377 (1940)	p. 27
Betts v. Brady, 316 U.S. 455, 62 S.Ct. 1252, 86 L.Ed. 1595 (1942)	p. 26
Coy v. Iowa, 487 U.S. 1012, 108 S.Ct. 2798, 101 L.Ed.2d 857 (1988).	p. 21
Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004)	p. 34
Douglas v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 415, 418, 85 S.Ct. 107 13 L.Ed.2d 934 (1965)	74, p. 21
Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed. 2d 799 (1963)	p. 26-27
Grosjean v. American Press Co., 297 U.S. 233, 56 S.Ct. 444, 80 L.Ed. 660 (1936)	p. 26
Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 58 S.Ct. 1019, 82 L.Ed. 1461 (1938)	p. 27
The Ottawa, 3 Wall. 268, 70 U.S. 268, 18 L.Ed. 165 (1865)	p. 22
Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 85 S.Ct. 1065, 13 L.Ed.2d 923 (1965)	p. 21

Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 53 S.Ct. 55, 77 L.Ed. 158 (1932)		p. 26-27
Smith v. O'Grady, 312 U.S. 329, 61 S.Ct. 572, 85 L.Ed. 859 (1941)		p. 27
United States v. Mastrototaro, 455 F.2d 802 (4th Cir.197	72)	p. 13
Heard v. United States, 255 F. 829 (8 Cir. 1919)		p. 21
Lindsey v. United States, 77 U.S.App.D.C. 1, 133 F.2d 3 (D.C. Cir. 1942)	68,	p. 21
U.S. v. Caudle, 606 F.2d 451, 456-457 (4th Cir. 1979)		p. 20-21
United State v. Masters, 622 F.2d 83 (4th Cir.1980)		p. 14-15
United State v. Williams, 900 F.2d 823 (5th Cir.1990)		p. 14-15
Arnoldt v. Ashland Oil, Inc., 186 W.Va. 394, 412 S.E.2d 795 (1991)		p. 12
Banker v. Banker, 196 W.Va. 535, 474 S.E.2d 465, 478 (1996).		p. 9, 14, 22
Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L., 194 W.Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995)		p. 7
Good v. Handlan, 342 S.E.2d 111, 176 W.Va. 145 (1986)		p. 28
Green v. Ford Motor Credit Co., Sup. Ct. No.: 14-0816 (W. Va. 2015)		p. 9, 14, 22
Kominar v. Health Mgmt. Associates of WV, 648 S.E.2d 48, 220 W.Va. 542 (2007)		p. 21-22, 25
State v. Boyce, 230 W.Va. 725, 742 S.E.2d 413 (2013)		p. 7

State v. Dennis, 607 S.E.2d 437, 216 W.Va. 331 p. 14-16 (2004)
State v. Kennedy, 735 S.E.2d 905, 229 W.Va. 756 (2012) p. 20-21
State v. Kopa, 173 W.Va. 43, 311 S.E.2d 412 (1983) p. 13
State v. LaRock, 196 W.Va. 294, 470 S.E.2d 613 (1996) p. 14-15
State v. Mechling, 219 W.Va. 366, 633 S.E. 2d 311,
State v. Messer, 166 W.Va. 806, 277 S.E.2d 634 (1981) p. 12-13
State v. McAboy, 160 W.Va. 497, 236 S.E.2d 431 (1977) p. 13
State v. McGinnis, 455 S.E.2d 516, 193 W.Va. 147 (1994)
State v. Spicer, 245 S.E.2d 922, 162 W.Va. 127 (1978) p. 13, 19
State v. Stollings, 158 W.Va. 585, 212 S.E.2d 745 (1975)
State v. Thomas, 157 W.Va. 640, 203 S.E.2d 445 (1974) p. 12-13
State v. Vance, 207 W. Va. 640, 535 S.E.2d 484 (2000) p. 9
State v. Walker, 188 W.Va. 661, 425 S.E.2d 616, (1992) p. 13
State ex rel. Cooper v. Caperton, 196 W.Va. 208, p. 10 470 S.E.2d 162 (1996)
State ex rel. Webb v. Wilson, 182 W.Va. 538, p. 28 390 S.E.2d 9 (1990)
Tennant v. Marion Health Care Foundation, Inc., p. 9 194 W.Va. 97, 459 S.E.2d 374 (1995)
Aluminum Industries, Inc. v. Egan, 61 Ohio App. 111, p. 22 22 N.E.2d 459 (1938)

Hall v. Crosby, 131 Me. 253, 160 A. 878 (1932)	p. 22
Citizens Bank & Trust Co. v. Reid Motor Co., 216 N.C. 432, 5 S.E.2d 318 (1939)	p. 22
Gurley v. St. Louis Transit Co., Mo.App., 259 S.W. 895 (1924)	p. 22
W.Va. Code 62-3-21	p. 10, 27-28, 31-32
West Virginia Rules of Evidence Rule 403	p. 5-6, 10, 12, 35, 38
West Virginia Rules of Evidence Rule 404(b)	p. 1, 3-5, 9, 11-12,
West Virginia Rules of Evidence Rule 803	14, 17, 19, 34, 38 p. 35
West Virginia Rules of Evidence Rule 804	p. 34, 35, 37
West Virginia Rules of Evidence Rule 804(a)(4)	p. 34
West Virginia Rules of Evidence Rule 804(b)(1)(B)	p. 34
West Virginia Rules of Evidence Rule 805	p. 36
West Virginia Rules of Evidence Rule 807	p. 35
West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure Rule 18(a)	p. 8
West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure Rule 20	p. 8
Annotations, 38 A.L.R.2d 952	p. 22
Annotations, 43 A.L.R.2d 1000	p. 22
58 Am.Jur., Witnesses, § 614	p. 22

3A Wigmore, Evidence § 944 (Chadbourn rev. 1970)	p. 21
5 Wigmore, Evidence § 1367 (Chadbourn rev. 1976)	p. 21
5 Wigmore, Evidence (3 ed.) § 1368	p. 22
2 Wright, Federal Practice and Procedure, Criminal § 416 (1969)	p. 21
Proceedings Nebraska State Bar Assn., 37 Neb. L.Rev. 14	19 p. 22

NOTICE

Petitioner's co-defendants below were Julie D. Browning (Fayette Co. Circuit Ct. Case No.: 20-F-75) and Sherie M. Titchenell (Fayette Co. Case No.: 20-F-76).

Ms. Titchenell's appeal in this Court is docketed as #22-719, and Ms. Browning's appeal to this Court is docketed as # 22-705.

Portions of *Petitioner's Brief* have incorporated portions of the brief filed in #22-719..

This has been by permission of the attorney therein.

Now comes Petitioner, appealing his conviction at jury trial below, and moving this Court to reverse said conviction and remand for a new trial, or to dismiss, as deemed meet by the Court.

I.: Statement of the Case

Petitioner was indicted by the May, 2020, term of the Fayette County grand jury in a two-count indictment, charging child abuse causing death and child neglect resulting in death.

Appendix, Vol. I, p. 1-2.

Co-defendants Julie Browning (Petitioner's wife) and Sherie Titchenell (Julie Browning's sister) were similarly charged.

The child who had passed away was R.B., Petitioner's eight-year-old daughter, and unrelated to Petitioner's co-defendants.

Both counts in the indictment alleged an offense time period from August 28, 2014, until December 26, 2018.

Several pre-trial hearings were convened, and the trial was re-scheduled several times.

At the February 8, 2022, pre-trial hearing, the trial court ruled that the various allegations of abuse and neglect in this case, occurring both in Nicholas County and Fayette County, and during the entire four year and four month time frame in the indictment, were all "intrinsic" evidence, and not "404(b)" evidence per *West Virginia Rules of Evidence* Rule 404(b).

The trial court's order from the February 8, 2022, hearing did not address the court's ruling

upon this issue. *App.*, Vol. I, p. 27-28. The prosecuting attorney had volunteered, and was directed by the court, to prepare an order encompassing the court's ruling (*App.*, Vol. I, p. 248), but said order does not seem to have been prepared. However, the transcript of said hearing appears at *App.*, Vol. I. p. 137-256. See, especially, *Ibid.*, p. 239.

At pre-trial hearing June 3, 2022, Petitioner's *Motion to Dismiss with Prejudice* based on Petitioner's allegation that the "three-term rule" protecting the right to a speedy trial had been violated, was denied by the trial Court. *App.*, Vol. I, p. 280, 301-311.

Jury trial was convened below June 6, 2022, and proceeded through June 13, 2022. Evidence was presented by the State, including testimony that Petitioner and his co-defendants had been abusive of R.B., and testimony that they had been negligent in failing to take R.B. to the hospital when she was sick in December, 2018. Co-defendants Titchenell and Julie Browning presented evidence and testified. Petitioner offered no evidence and did not testify.

At trial, Petitioner and his co-defendants were prohibited by the trial court from examining or cross-examining any witness called by another co-defendant, other than direct examination of the co-defendants themselves. That is, if the attorney for one of the three co-defendants called a witness, the attorneys for the other two co-defendants were prohibited from examining or cross-examining that witness. *App.*, Vol. V, p. 238-240, 252-253. As to examination by Petitioner and co-defendants of the co-defendants themselves, only direct examination was permitted, not cross examination. *App.*, Vol. VI, p. 295-296.

Petitioner and his co-defendants were all acquitted of Count One, child abuse causing death. All three were convicted of Count Two, child neglect resulting in death.

Petitioner filed *Defendant's Motion for New Trial and Motion to Dismiss*, which was not addressed by the trial court. *App.*, Vol. I, p. 297-300.

Petitioner and both co-defendants were sentenced by the trial court on August 12, 2022, to indeterminate prison terms of not less than three, nor more that fifteen, years.

It is from this conviction that Petitioner now appeals.

II.: Assignments of Error

a.: First Assignment of Error

Petitioner states that the trial Court erred, at a pre-trial hearing February 8, 2022, in ruling that allegations of abuse and neglect of the child by Petitioner and his co-defendants in this matter, some having allegedly occurred in Nicholas County, West Virginia, some years ago, were all intrinsic to the crimes charged, rather than evidence of other acts pursuant to *WVRE* 404(b).

b.: Second Assignment of Error

Petitioner states that the trial court erred by prohibiting at trial direct examination or cross examination by counsel for Petitioner, or counsel for either co-defendant, of witnesses called by counsel for a different co-defendant. While making an exception by allowing *direct* examination by each defense counsel of the co-defendants themselves, the trial court compounded its error by prohibiting *cross* examination of the co-defendants by counsel of the each of the other co-defendants.

c.: Third Assignment of Error

Petitioner assigns as error the denial by the trial court, prior to trial, of Petitioner's motion to dismiss the indictment for the reason that three terms of court had passed after the return of an indictment against Petitioner prior to the commencement of the trial June 6, 2022.

D.: Fourth Assignment of Error

The circuit court erred when it permitted the hearsay testimony of R.B. and of Petitioner's co-defendants to be heard by the jury over a Confrontation Clause objection by counsel, and when prior order of the circuit court had ruled such hearsay inadmissible.

III.: Summary of Argument

a.: Intrinsic Evidence versus 404(b) Evidence

Counts One and Two of the indictment, in that they allege child abuse causing death and child neglect resulting in death over a fifty-two month period, basically charge Petitioner with killing his daughter over said fifty-two month period.

The evidence produced by the State at trial, and referenced at the February 8, 2022, pretrial hearing, involve various allegations: that R.B.'s femur had been broken as an act of abuse, while she lived with Petitioner and his co-defendants in Nicholas County three years before R.B.'s death, although a specific perpetrator was not named; that R.B. had been improperly disciplined and not permitted interaction with family and friends to the same extent as the other children in the household; insufficient nourishment and water; physical abuse; and failing to

secure medical treatment for R.B.

Some of these acts were alleged to have occurred in Nicholas County, where Petitioner and his family had lived prior to moving to Fayette County.

At the February 8. 2022, pre-trial hearing, the trial court ruled that all of these allegations could be offered into evidence by the State at trial as intrinsic to the offenses charged.

Petitioner at said hearing argued that there was no evidence that any or all said "prior bad acts," even taken together, could have caused or resulted in R.B.'s death, with the exception of failure to seek medical attention during R.B.'s bout with pneumonia during her final illness. *App.*, Vol. I, p. 240-243. Also see *App.*, Vol. VI, p. 158-159.

Petitioner further argued that, therefore, evidence of said prior acts could only be introduced, if at all, as "404(b) evidence."

Petitioner additionally argued that the Nicholas County prior acts were not intrinsic to the Fayette County charges, and therefore would have to be charged, if at all, in Nicholas County. *App.*, Vol. I, p. 240.

During trial, the court revisited the issue, opining that the prior acts were coming into evidence as 404(b) evidence, rather than as intrinsic evidence. When reminded by the prosecuting attorney of its pre-trial ruling, the trial court then stated that the acts could only be charged in Fayette County if they had occurred in Fayette County. *App.*, Vol. II, p. 227-228. Nevertheless, the trial court then proceeded to permit the evidence of all the allegations, both in Nicholas County and in Fayette County, to be admitted at trial.

No WVRE 404(b) analysis or WVRE Rule 403 balancing test was conducted by the

trial court, neither prior to nor during trial. Even upon admission of the prior bad acts as intrinsic evidence, a Rule 403 balancing test should have been conducted.

b.: No Opportunity to Directly Examine or Cross Examine Defense Witnesses

During trial, the court announced that, upon the calling of witnesses by counsel for one of the three co-defendants, the attorneys for the other two co-defendants would not be permitted to conduct direct examination or cross examination of those witnesses. *App.*, Vol. V, p. 238-240. Rather, the attorney who had called said witness could, upon completion of his inquiry, confer with the other two co-defendants' attorneys to see if any further questions needed to be asked. *Ibid.*, p. 239. Petitioner objected to the court's ruling. *App.*, Vol. V, p. 252-253; *App.*, Vol. VI, p. 219.

Later, the court permitted direct examination, but not cross examination, of the codefendants themselves. *App.*, Vol. VI, p. 295-296.

The trial court's prohibition of direct or cross examination by the other two co-defendants' attorneys was error, and prejudicial to Petitioner, especially as regards the denial of the right to cross examination of the co-defendants because the three co-defendants were not completely non-adversarial one to the other. See, for example, Julie Browning's testimony about not having conferred with Petitioner about taking R.B. to the hospital. *App.*, Vol. VI, p. 305-306.

If permitted to cross examine Ms. Browning, Petitioner would have inquired, "Isn't it accurate that you were home with R.B. during her final illness, while your husband, Marty Browning, was at work and not in a position to observe any symptoms displayed by R.B. at the time? Wouldn't Mr. Browning then have relied on how you described any symptoms that R.B.

may have been displaying in deciding whether to take R.B. to the hospital?"

The right of an accused to cross-examination is fundamental. This right is not limited to only confronting state witnesses, but extends to witnesses of any party who are, or may be, postured adversarially to the accused.

Ms. Browning and Petitioner would be adversarial to each other during such questioning. Further, it is almost inconceivable that her attorney, upon request by Petitioner's counsel to make such inquiry, would not balk at, and decline, asking his own client such incriminating questions.

c.: Denial of Speedy-Trial Right

Petitioner was indicted in this matter by the May, 2020, term of the Fayette County grand jury. Not including the term in which Petitioner was indicted, five full terms of court passed prior to the commencement of trial, not including the May, 2022, term in which trial convened.

Continuation of the trial date to successive terms of court for reasons not constituting exceptions to the "three-term rule" totaled four.

Therefore, Petitioner's motion to dismiss based upon failure to provide a speedy trial should have been granted by the trial court at the June 3, 2022, pre-trial hearing.

d.: Improper Admission of Hearsay

At pre-trial hearing May 24, 2021, the trial court ruled that "[t]he State of West Virginia may not present statements made by the Defendant's co-defendants in their case-in-chief." *App.*, Vol. I, p. 320.

The trial court's reasoning was that, since the three co-defendants were joined for trial, and

in that each co-defendant might not testify at trial, cross examination of a particular co-defendant by counsel for the other co-defendants would not be possible. *App.*, Vol. I, p. 319-321.

Yet, at trial, the court permitted, over Petitioner and co-defendants' objection, testimony by one of R.B.'s teachers (a mandatory reporter) as to statements made by R.B. to her. *App.*, Vol. V, p. 84.

The trial court also permitted, over Petitioner's objection, hearsay of the co-defendants, and of R.B., as testified to by B.M. *App.*, Vol. V, p. 178-180, 197-198.

IV.: Statement Regarding Oral Argument and Decision

Oral argument is necessary, pursuant to the criteria of Rule 18(a) of the *West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure*, because (a) Appellant has not waived oral argument; (b) this appeal is not frivolous; (c) the dispositive issues have not been authoritatively decided per the specifics of how the issues present in this case, especially as regards Petitioner's first and second assignments of error; and (d) it appears that the decisional process would be significantly aided by oral argument, given the fairly complex specifics of how the issues present in this case.

This case should be set for Rule 20 argument because (a) this case, at least as to Petitioner's second assignment of error, involves an issue substantially of first impression; (b) Petitioner's first and second assignments of error involve issues of fundamental public importance; to wit, the admission, as intrinsic evidence, of evidence that should have been admitted, if at all, as 404(b) evidence, and whether acts allegedly committed in one county can be prosecuted in another county; and (c) the prohibition by the trial court of defense counsel's direct examination of all witnesses called by another co-defendant's counsel, other than the co-

defendants themselves, and the prohibition by the trial court of cross examination of all witnesses, including those adversarial adversarial to Petitioner, are of constitutional importance.

V.: Argument

"[I]n reviewing challenges to findings and rulings made by a circuit court, we apply a two-pronged deferential standard of review. We review the rulings of the circuit court concerning a new trial and its conclusion as to the existence of reversible error under an abuse of discretion standard, and we review the circuit court's underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard. Questions of law are subject to a de novo review."

State v. Vance, 207 W. Va. 640, 535 S.E.2d 484 (W. Va. 2000), quoting Tennant v. Marion Health Care Foundation, Inc., 194 W.Va. 97, 104, 459 S.E.2d 374, 381 (1995)

""Where the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a de novo standard of review."

Syl. Pt. 1, *Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L.*, 194 W.Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995), quoted in Syl. Pt. 2, *State v. Boyce*, 230 W.Va. 725, 742 S.E.2d 413 (2013)

Here, Petitioner's first assignment of error is clearly a question of law: that the trial court erred in its admission of certain evidence against Petitioner and co-defendants as intrinsic evidence rather than *WVRE* 404(b) evidence. Therefore, a *de novo* standard of review should be applied. Also, since the admission of evidence as intrinsic implicates jurisdiction of the court, there exists a constitutional dimension to this issue.

Also, the trial court's failure to conduct any 404(b) analysis was an abuse of discretion, in that a failure to exercise any discretion constitutes an abuse of discretion. *Green v. Ford Motor Credit Co.*, Sup. Ct. No.: 14-0816 (W. Va. 2015), *citing Banker v. Banker*, 196 W.Va. 535, 548, 474 S.E.2d 465, 478 (1996).

Petitioner's second assignment of error is also a question of law: that the trial court erred in

denying Petitioner certain direct examination and all cross examination of witnesses called by a different co-defendant's counsel, when some such witnesses were adversarial in posture to Petitioner. Therefore, a *de novo* standard of review should be applied. Also, a denial of the right to confront adverse witnesses is a denial of due process, which is a constitutional issue.

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