IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 22-710

SCA EFiled: Apr 19 2023

02:32PM EDT

Transaction ID 69854822

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

 \mathbf{v}_{\bullet}

MARTY L. BROWNING,

Petitioner.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Appeal from the August 21, 2022, Order Circuit Court of Fayette County Case No. CC-10-2020-F-74

> PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

WILLIAM E. LONGWELL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL West Virginia State Bar No. 12290 Office of the Attorney General 1900 Kanawha Blvd. E. State Capitol, Bldg. 6, Ste. 406 Charleston, WV 25305 Tel: (304) 558-5830

Tel: (304) 558-5830 Fax: (304) 558-5833

Email: William.E.Longwell@wvago.gov

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

with an adverse party. A hostile witness may be asked leading questions on direct examination." Witness, BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY (11th ed. 2019). If Petitioner truly believed that any of the defense witnesses or testifying co-defendants were hostile or adverse to his interests, there is no reason why he could not have moved to have them considered as hostile witnesses, and thus preserve that particular issue for appeal. But Petitioner did not do that. What is perhaps most confounding about Petitioner's argument in this respect is that he argues that there are a number of questions that he would have asked his co-defendant, Julie Browning, if given the opportunity to conduct cross-examination. Pet'r's Br. 24-25. The transcript, however, clearly shows that the circuit court gave him two opportunities to question Ms. Browning, and both times, Petitioner declined to do so. A.R. Vol. VI, 297, 314. Why Petitioner required the ability to cross-examine Ms. Browning as to the issues identified in his brief is left unexplained by Petitioner. In fact, there is no discernible reason why he could not have effectively developed testimony through direct examination. Petitioner similarly declined the opportunity to question Ms. Titchenell following her direct examination by her attorney. A.R. Vol. VI, 327.

One would expect that if there was such critical information that needed developed during the testimony of a particular witness, questions would be posed regardless of whether the questioning was through direct or cross-examination. Simply stated, Petitioner's claims that his right to examine witnesses was violated rings hollow, especially in light of his unequivocal decision to forego questioning those very witnesses that he now claims he was prevented from examining. Petitioner's arguments in this respect are disingenuous, and certainly do not entitle him to any relief.

IV. Petitioner's right to trial within three regular terms of court was not violated.

Petitioner's third assignment of error alleges that at the time he and his co-defendants' joint trial began on June 6, 2022, three regular terms of court had passed, entitling them to dismissal of the indictment with prejudice. Pet'r's Br. at 28. Petitioner concedes that each term that had passed from the term of indictment until the May 2021 term of court were excused. Pet'r's Br. 29. This leaves four terms relevant for this Court to review to address Petitioner's claims: the May 2021 term, the September 2021 term, and the January 2022 term. Petitioner's trial commenced on June 6, 2022, during the May 2022 term of court. Should this Court find that any of the above mentioned terms were excused, Petitioner's claim fails. *See State v. Paul C.*, 244 W. Va. 329, 336, 853 S.E.2d 569, 576 (2020) (recognizing that if one of three terms of court is excused, the right to trial within three terms of court is not violated, and there is no need to analyze the remaining two terms).

Fayette County is situated in the 12th Judicial Circuit, and has three terms of court each year which commence on the second Tuesday in January, May, and September. W. Va. T. C. R. 2.12.

This Court has long recognized that there are four factors to consider when assessing whether a "defendant has been denied a trial without unreasonable delay," which looks to: "(1) the length of the delay; (2) the reasons for the delay; (3) the defendant's assertion of his rights; and (4) prejudice to the defendant." Syl. Pt. 4, in part, *Frank A. v. Ames*, 246 W. Va. 145, 866 S.E.2d 210 (2021) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). When considering the circumstances in conjunction with these factors, this Court should balance "the conduct of the defendant against the conduct of the State," and that it should be considered on a "case-by-case basis and no one factor is either necessary or sufficient to support a finding that the defendant has been denied a speedy trial." *Id.* (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

When balancing the conduct of the defendant against the conduct of the state, this Court has held that:

Any term in which a defendant procures a continuance of a trial on his own motion after an indictment is returned, or otherwise prevents a trial from being held, is not counted as one of the three term sin favor of discharge from prosecution under the provisions of Code, 62-3-21, as amended.

Syl. Pt. 2, *State ex rel. Spadafore v. Fox*, 155 W. Va. 674, 186 S.E.2d 833 (1972). Relevant to the circumstances presented in the instant appeal, however, this Court has also opined that:

We do not think that the language used in the statute, "on motion of the accused," means that the accused party must make a formal motion in the court in which the indictment is pending in order to charge him with the delay in bringing him to trial. If he instigates a proceeding which forces a continuance of the case at a particular term of court, he will not be permitted to take advantage of the delay thus occasioned.

State ex rel. Farley v. Kramer, 153 W. Va. 159, 172-73, 169 S.E.2d 106, 114-15 (1969) (emphasis added). In relying on this precedent, this Court in State v. Paul C., found that a term in which Petitioner's counsel made an informal motion to continue five days prior to trial and, in doing so, noted that it had "several more motions to file" based upon issues that were discussed during the hearing. Id. at 336, 853 S.E.2d at 576. When Petitioner's counsel made this motion, the circuit court responded by stating, "Well, this case is not ready for trial for Tuesday. . . . [petitioner's counsel] has some motions and things that she needs to file and I suspect that's true." Id. Petitioner agreed, and the "State suggested a new trial date of August 14, 2018, during the next term of court, to which Petitioner's counsel also agreed, along with the acknowledgment that the recent election of a new judge and the court's busy docket might postpone the trial even further." Id.

Similar to the facts presented in *Paul C*., this Court can dispense with Petitioner's claim by looking no further than the September 2021 term of court. Much like nearly every other continuance of the trial date in this matter, the continuance of trial from the September 2021 term

of court into the January 2022 term of court was preceded by the filing of a motion to continue by the defense. A.R. Vol. I, 8. The basis of the motion to continue was to "receive, review, and respond to the State's newly disclosed expert witness' opinions." *Id.* The record provided by Petitioner contains no transcript from this hearing, and the only evidence before this Court is the circuit court's order granting the continuance, which provides only that "defense counsel for Ms. Titchenell made a motion to continue the matter, to which the State did not object. The Court, having considered the matter, GRANTS the motion aforesaid and continued the matter to the January 2022 term of Court." A.R. Vol. I, 24-25.

Although Petitioner claims in his brief that none of the defendants waived their right to trial within that term of court, such contention is not accompanied by any citation to the record, presumably because there is nothing in the record to support it. Pet'r's Br. 30. Instead, the only evidence in the record demonstrates that the continuance was upon a motion filed by the defense, that the State did not object, and the circuit court ordered the matter continued into the January 2022 term of court. This, alone, is fatal to Petitioner's ability to succeed on this particular claim. Petitioner's contention that none of the defendants waived their right to a trial within the September 2021 term of court is entirely speculative, and based upon nothing more than convenient, and self-serving arguments completely detached from any discernible facts in the record. Thus, the order granting the continuance is the only evidence before this Court, which contains nothing to support Petitioner's assertions. Petitioner's claim, therefore, must fail. See State ex rel. Erlewine v. Thompson, 156 W. Va. 714, 718, 207 S.E.2d 105, 107 (1973) ("A court of record speaks only through its orders and the order in the record of this case shows that the defendant was not available for trial on the indictment when the term in question began").

With respect to the January 2022 term, the record also reveals that Petitioner's conduct necessitated a continuance to the following term. The circuit court's ultimate decision to continue the trial to the May 2022 term was due to Petitioner's counsel's unavailability to appear in person for a critical deposition hearing wherein the State sought to preserve the testimony of the two medical examiners due to their unavailability for trial because of medical issues and conflicting trial appearances. A.R. Vol. I, 29-30.

Petitioner's claim that the continuance from the January 2022 term to the May 2022 term should be credited to the State strains credulity. To be sure, the State did absolutely nothing to necessitate the continuance, and had done everything it could to ensure that trial was able to proceed on March 1, 2022, within the January 2022 term. It was because of a recently scheduled medical appointment, personal to only counsel for the Petitioner, and the risk of an inaccurate, or insufficient record being created due to Petitioner's counsel's appearance at the hearing remotely that necessitated the continuance. Indeed, Petitioner's unavailability and his subsequent notice to the court was just weeks before the March 1, 2022 trial date.

While medical appointments are certainly important and should constitute good cause to continue proceedings, it seems inherently unfair to charge the passing of a term of court to the State that was rendered necessary, despite the attempts of the State to ensure the trial commenced within the term, because of a last minute scheduling conflict on the part of one of the defense attorneys. Under no reasonable theory should the January 2022 term be charged to the State because it did absolutely nothing to cause the continuance into the May, 2022 term.

With respect to the May, 2022 term of court, such continuance should also be charged to the defense. The continuance to the next term of court was based, in part, on a motion to continue filed by the defense, and further based upon the limited resources necessary to conduct a jury trial

in light of the various protocols in place due to the COVID-19 pandemic. A.R. Vol I, 304. There is no authority upon which Petitioner can reasonably rely that would stand for the notion that the defense is able to file motions to continue, and may avoid having any term that may pass as a result charged to them simply by demanding that the continuance be "within the term," with no respect given to the circuit court's other obligations, as well as those of the opposing party. For this Court to condone such conduct would create a situation where defense attorneys could simply "run out the clock" so to speak, and obtain dismissals based upon technicalities simply because they included a talismanic phrase in each of their motions to continue.

Petitioner's right to a trial within three regular terms of court was not violated, and this Court should, accordingly, affirm the judgment of the Fayette County Circuit Court.

V. Petitioner's Sixth Amendment Rights were not violated by the admission of statements that he claims were inadmissible testimonial hearsay. Each of the statements were either not testimony, were not hearsay, or both. As a result, the statements did not fall under the protections afforded by the Sixth Amendment.

In his fourth and final assignment of error, Petitioner asserts that the circuit court erred in allowing the State to "elicit hearsay of R. B., and the adverse testimony of one of Petitioner's codefendants, in violation of Petitioner's Sixth Amendment right of confrontation." Pet'r's Br. at 33. With respect the allegedly improper "hearsay" statements of R.B., Petitioner points to certain statements elicited during trial from Carrie Ciliberti, R.B.'s teacher during kindergarten and first grade in Nicholas County, as well as statements testified to by B.M., R.B.'s older sister. Pet'r's Br. at 33-35. Petitioner next asserts that the State elicited testimony regarding certain statements made by Petitioner's co-defendants that were elicited during the State's case-in-chief. Pet'r's Br. at 35-37.

1. The lack of timely objections to the challenged testimony

"Our rules clearly indicate that a party who wishes to predicate error upon a court's admission of evidence must timely object to that evidence." *State v. Jenkins*, 204 W. Va. 347, 351, 512 S.E.2d 860, 864 (1998). This general rule is further embodied in Rule 103(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence, which provides: "Error may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected." Rule 103(b) further provides that: "In case the ruling is one admitting evidence, a timely objection or motion to strike appears of record, stating the specific ground of objection, if the specific ground was not apparent from the context."

The significance of Rule 103 has been recognized as providing that "the objecting party should not benefit from an insufficient objection if the grounds asserted in a valid objection could have been obviated had the objecting party alerted the offering party to the true nature of the objection." *State v. DeGraw*, 196 W. Va. 261, 272, 470 S.E.2d 215, 216 (1996) (quoting 1 Franklin D. Cleckley, Handbook on Evidence for West Virginia Lawyers § 1–7(C)(2) at 78 (3rd ed. 1994).

Petitioner failed to offer any objections to the testimony offered by Carrie Ciliberti regarding her observations as to R.B.'s injuries, and the statements R.B. made to her while at school. A.R. Vol. V, 81, 96, 100-103. Based upon this Court's holding in *DeGraw*, Petitioner's failure to offer a valid objection should render any claim of error relating to this testimony waived.

Next, Petitioner asserts that R.B.'s older sister, B.M. offered certain statements during her trial testimony that Petitioner claims were inadmissible hearsay statements. Pet'r's Br. 34. These statements included her recollection as to hearing R.B. tell Petitioner's co-defendant that "she wanted to go to the hospital," even though that would means she would be there during Christmas. *Id.* (citing A.R. Vol. V, 197-98).

Similar to the testimony Petitioner challenges as offered by Ms. Ciliberti, the record contains absolutely no objections to the line of questions that elicited the testimony from B.M. that Petitioner now claims was erroneously admitted. A.R. Vol. V, 196-200. Thus, any alleged error that may have flowed from the admission of this testimony was waived by Petitioner, and he cannot now demand relief for an error that neither he, nor any of his co-defendants though worthy to voice an objection at the times the statements were offered.

Finally, Petitioner claims that "B.M. testified, over the hearsay and confrontation-clause objections of counsel, that Ms. Titchenell had told her to deny, if asked at school or by CPS, the alleged abuse in the home." Pet'r's Br. 36 (citing App. Vol. V, 178-182). While Petitioner did offer an objection around the time this testimony was elicited, it can hardly be said that the objection related to this line of testimony. That is because the objection did not occur until after the State had asked B.M. multiple questions as to this issue, and Petitioner supported his objection by stating that "[t]his witness *is about to—is about to report hearsay.*" A.R. Vol. V. 179 (emphasis added).

Petitioner's contention that he objected to this line of testimony is tenuous, at best. A plain reading of the transcript as to the specific reason for Petitioner's objection clearly indicates that his objection was not to testimony that had already been elicited, but to testimony that he anticipated that the State was about to elicit. While nuanced, this is a critical consideration, as Petitioner is required to offer timely objections that reasonably place the court and other parties on notice as to the alleged infirmity so that the issue may be corrected. *Jenkins*, 204 W. Va. at 351, 512 S.E.2d at 864; *see also State ex rel. Cooper v. Caperton*, 196 W. Va. 208, 216, 470 S.E.2d 162, 170 (1996) ("To preserve an issue for appellate review, a party must articulate it with such sufficient distinctiveness to alert a circuit court to the nature of the claimed defect. . . . parties must

speak clearly in the circuit court, on pain that, if they forget their lines, they will likely be bound forever to hold their peace.") Petitioner's objection as to this issue was not sufficient to preserve the issue for appeal. This claim is waived, and this Court should accordingly reject it without further consideration.

2. Petitioner's Confrontation Rights were not violated.

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